# FILED

SID J WHITE JUL 1 1994

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

BRIAN	KEIT	ΗG	IBSO	N,		:
		Арр	ella	nt,		:
vs.						:
STATE	OF F	LOR	RIDA,			:
		App	elle	e.		:
······································						_:

CLERK, SUPREME COURT By \_\_\_\_\_\_ Chief Deputy Clerk

Case No. 81,769

## APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR HENDRY COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

PAUL C. HELM ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 229687

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33830 (813) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

#### TOPICAL

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 7, 1991, the Hendry County Grand Jury indicted the appellant, BRIAN KEITH GIBSON, for the first-degree premeditated murder of Lupita Luevano on September 30, 1991, first-degree felony murder of Lupita Luevano, and armed burglary.  $(R 9-11)^1$ 

Gibson was tried by jury before the Honorable Jay B. Rosman, Circuit Judge, on March 2-18, 1993. (T 1; P 1) The jury found Gibson guilty as charged on all three counts. (R 155-56) The jury recommended the death penalty by a vote of 7 to 5. (R 157)

On April 12, 1993, the court adjudicated Gibson guilty of first-degree murder, merging counts one and two, and sentenced him to death. (R 160-62; S 13-20) The court did not enter a contemporaneous written order to state its findings on aggravating and mitigating circumstances. (R 1-175; SR 72) Although the sentencing guidelines permitted a sentencing range of 4 1/2 to 9 years for the burglary, (R 159) the court imposed a consecutive life sentence. (R 159-63; S 19) The court did not provide written reasons for the departure from the guidelines. (R 159; SR 73) Defense counsel filed a notice of appeal. (R 167)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> References to the record on appeal are designated by "R" and the page number. References to the trial transcript are designated by "T" and the page number. References to the penalty phase transcript are designated by "P" and the page number. References to the sentencing transcript are designated by "S" and the page number. References to the supplemental record are designated by "SR" and the page number.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

## A. Voir Dire

The court conducted a bench conference so counsel could challenge prospective jurors without being overheard. (T 480-88) Defense counsel requested a ten minute recess so he could consult with Gibson on how to proceed. The court denied the request. (T 489) The bench conference continued, with counsel using both cause and peremptory challenges. (T 489-98)

## B. Trial Testimony

In September, 1991, Lupita Luevano lived with Richard Murrish at 839 East Trinidad in Clewiston. (T 1276-78) They owned a Chihuahua and a cat. (T 1278) Murrish kept a set of weights in a back bedroom. (T 1282-83) The window to that room was left open a crack for ventilation for the cat's litter box. (T 1282) Murrish kept his hunting guns in a case in the living room. He kept a loaded shotgun by his bed for protection. (T 1311-12) There was a utility shed in the back yard with a ladder and cement blocks beside it. (T 1289-91) About a month before, Murrish had found some of the cement blocks under the windows to the master bedroom and the bathroom. (T 1292)

On Sunday evening, September 29, Murrish grilled steaks in the back yard. He did not notice anything out of place. (T 1292-95) Later that evening, Murrish and Luevano engaged in sexual intercourse. (T 1296) They had never engaged in anal intercourse. (T 1297) On September 30, Murrish left for work around 6:15 a.m. (T 1298-1300) He heard Luevano lock the carport door when he left.

(T 1300-02) She was scheduled to work at the Stop and Shop from 3:00 to 11:00 p.m. (T 1303)

Tracey White lived next door. (T 1214) Around 6:40 a.m. on September 30, White was leaving for work when he heard a scream from the direction of Luevano's house. (T 1215-16) At first he thought it was one of his children calling to him from his front door. Then he decided it must have been the sound of a truck stopping at the fertilizer plant across the canal. (T 1216-17)

Ramon Iglesias managed the Super Stop food store where Luevano worked. (T 1266) Around 8:30 a.m. on September 30, Iglesias drove a maroon pickup to Luevano's house to ask her to come to work early. (T 1267-69) Her car was parked by the carport, but no one answered when he knocked on the door. (T 1269) Iglesias returned to Luevano's house sometime between 8:30 a.m. and 3:30 p.m. Her car was still there. No one answered when he knocked, but he heard a dog barking. (T 1270-71) Luevano failed to come to work at 3:00. At 3:30, Iglesias went back to her house. Her car was still there, but again no one answered the door when he knocked, and the dog barked. (T 1270-72)

Murrish returned home from work around 6:05 p.m. Luevano's car was still there. (T 1303-04) Murrish used his key to open the carport door. The chain lock was not on. (T 1305) He heard the dog barking in one of the back bedrooms. (T 1305-06) He found Luevano lying face down on the bed in the master bedroom. (T 1307-08) He called her name, shook her, and turned her head. (T 1313, 1331) The room was a wreck. The contents of her purse were

scattered on the floor, the bed was twisted sideways, and the dresser had been moved. There was blood on the walls, floor, dresser, and ceiling. (T 1307-08) Murrish's belt, which should have been in the closet, was on the bed. A barbell was also on the bed. (T 1310) The blankets were on the floor. (T 1312) One of Murrish's shirts and one of Luevano's shirts were on the bed. (T 1312-13) The shotgun should have been leaning against the wall, but was lying on the floor. (T 1332)

Murrish went to a neighbor's house to ask if he had seen anyone, then to the sheriff's department about two blocks away. He did not have a telephone. (T 1314-15) Murrish was not aware of anything of value missing from the house. (T 1319-20)

Around 6:10 p.m. on September 30, Murrish entered the sheriff's office substation and told Deputy Hill that Luevano was dead. (T 1336-40, 1390-91) Hill and Investigator Nuzzo followed Murrish back to his house. (T 1340-41) Hill and Nuzzo entered, looked through the house, and found Luevano lying face down on the bed. (T 1342-52) A paramedic verified that she was dead. (T 1355, 1381-84) Sergeant Notarian arrived, observed the body, and began securing the scene. (T 1390-95) Lieutenant Cassels arrived, spoke to the others, and observed the body. (T 1632-36)

Cassels spoke to Murrish, who was upset, scared, and crying. (T 1637-38) Cassels notified the Florida Department of Law Enforcement (FDLE), the medical examiner, and an investigator for the state attorney. (T 1639) Nuzzo spoke to the neighbors and learned that they heard a scream early that morning and had seen a

red pickup during the day. (T 1373) Cassels spoke to Iglesias and learned that he had come to the house three times, but no one answered the door. (T 1273-74, 1639-40) Investigator Campbell and Sergeant Pittman arrived at the scene around 7:00 p.m. (T 1398-1400, 1642, 1874-75) Cassels returned to the sheriff's office to interview Murrish. (T 1643) An anonymous caller told the Clewiston police that a Mexican male was seen running towards the Cuban market, but they found no witnesses to verify this report. (T 1644-45) FDLE crime scene analyst and fingerprint expert William Tucker arrived at the scene with another FDLE investigator around 9:20 p.m. (T 1456-60)

The investigators found that Luevano's body was mostly nude. There was a shirt wrapped or tied around part of her face and neck. Her panties were ripped and pulled up around her waist. Another shirt was wrapped or tied around her wrist. (T 1352, 1393-95, 1474-75, 1876-77) Tucker observed seminal fluid and took both anal and genital swabbings. (T 1491-93) Blood was on the pillows and spattered throughout the master bedroom. (T 1473-75, 1569-70, 1943) Tucker also collected hairs and fibers from Luevano's anus, back, and hands. (T 1491, 1547-48)

A barbell with one three pound weight attached was on the bed by Luevano's left knee. Another three pound weight was lying at the foot of the bed, and a locknut for the barbell was found under the bed. (T 1352, 1474, 1489-90, 1517, 1877-79) There was a belt by Luevano's back. (T 1474, 1489) A pair of white shorts was on the bed by the body. (T 1495-96) Murrish said neither he nor

Luevano owned any white shorts. (T 1329) A print shirt was by her head, and a white sleeveless shirt was underneath her. (T 1496-1500) A gold chain was found on the bed, and an Indian head charm was found under the bed. (T 1475, 1509-11, 1886-93) Neither Murrish nor Luevano's sister recognized the chain and charm. (T 1316-17, 1978-79) The shotgun was on the floor, partly under the bed. (T 1353, 1475, 1491, 1517) Luevano's wallet, a \$5 bill, and some papers were scattered on the floor. Her purse and checkbook were on the dresser. (T 1474, 1490, 1517) The nightstand contained \$190 in cash. (T 1474, 1581) The bedsheets were taken into evidence. (T 1509)

In the back bedroom, the investigators discovered an open jalousie window with a cut screen and possible fingerprint smudges on the wall below the window. The smudges were not suitable for comparison. (T 1471-72, 1484, 1515-17, 1553-57, 1582-83, 1880-85, 1924-25) This room also contained a weight bench and barbells. There were clothes on the floor between the bed and the wall. A green towel on the bed appeared to have blood and hair on it. (T 1472, 1479-83, 1584-85, 1880)

Outside of the house, the investigators found a ladder, a cement block, a bucket, and an unopened bottle of Sprite by the open window to the back bedroom. (T 1356-59, 1376-78, 1404-05, 1527-28, 1641, 1885) There were fingerprint smudges on the siding near the window. Pieces of the siding were removed from the house and taken into evidence. (T 1361-62, 1405, 1412-15, 1438-39, 1527-29, 1885, 1895-97) Officers observed a shoe print with a triangu-

lar, diamond, or round dimple pattern, but they did not measure or make a plaster cast of the print. (T 1405, 1415-16, 1435, 1885, 1926-29) Part of the back fence was pushed down, and it appeared that someone had been standing there in the grass. (T 1907-08)

Tucker processed the master bedroom, the back bedroom, the bathroom, the gun case, the barbell on the bed, the weight, the Sprite bottle, the ladder, and other items at the scene for latent fingerprints. He found only sixteen prints suitable for comparison. Thirteen of those were made by Murrish, and the other three were made by Luevano. (T 1506-08, 1525-31, 1562, 1564, 1573-75)

Dr. Wallace Graves, the medical examiner, conducted the autopsy on Luevano on October 1, 1991. (T 1776-79) He found deep splits in the skin of her forehead, around her eyes and lips, on her left cheek, and on her chin. These were associated with depressed fractures of her skull, the bones around her eyes, her cheekbones, her jawbone, and the roof of her mouth. (T 1795-97) Luevano had been struck at least six times with great force by a heavy blunt object. The injuries could have been caused by the barbell, but not by a fist. (T 1799-1801, 1804) There was considerable injury to her brain. (T 1801) There was a lot of bleeding from the injuries to her scalp and face. She inhaled and swallowed blood while still alive, but not necessarily conscious. (T 1803-04, 1828) There were bruises on the back of the left side of her neck. They could have been caused by being grabbed from behind by someone's hands with moderate force. (T 1805-06)

Death was caused by the blunt injuries to the face and skull. (T 1810) Because of the bruises and the shirt wrapped around her neck, Dr. Graves could not rule out strangulation as a contributing factor, but there were no hemorrhages in the underlying tissues, which would have been more suggestive of strangulation. (T 1810-11, 1821) Dr. Graves could not determine the order in which the blows were inflicted. (T 1810) Luevano could have lived up to thirty minutes after the blows to her forehead, but she would have lost consciousness within a few minutes--two minutes or less. Whether she could still feel pain would depend upon the level of her unconsciousness, which could not be determined. (T 1812, 1828-29, 1833)

Dr. Graves found a small tear at the edge of Luevano's anus. This injury was consistent with the insertion of a finger or a penis. (T 1808) Dr. Graves took blood samples, hair samples, and swabs from her mouth, vagina, and anus which he turned over to FDLE. He also made smears from the vagina and anus for his own examination and for FDLE. (T 1790-94) He found sperm in the vaginal smear, but not in the anal smear. (T 1812-13) There was no bruising of the anal or vaginal area. (T 1831) The sperm could have been present in the vagina for up to 48 hours. (T 1831-32) The anal tear was the only evidence of sexual assault, and it was possible that the tear was caused in some other way. (T 1833-34)

Brian Gibson worked at the Clewiston Fertilizer plant. On September 30, 1991, he clocked in at 4:00 a.m. (T 1084-86, 1156-57; R 97) Gibson worked with production manager Jay Odum, Kenneth

Bryant, and Matthew Street to mix a truckload of fertilizer. Gibson weighed the loaded truck at 4:43 a.m. (T 1086-89, 1105-07, 1142-43; R 99) Odum then went to the office to wait for a phone call for another load. (T 1089-90) Bryant went to his truck to take a nap. His truck was parked in back of the plant near the mixing area. (T 1108, 1114 ,1135) Gibson parked his truck in front of the plant at the entrance. (T 1131, 1136) Street went to the office for a cup of coffee. He was returning to the mixing area a few minutes after 5:00 when he saw Gibson walking towards the front of the plant. (T 1143-44, 1149-51)

Odum received a call for another load of fertilizer at 6:30. He walked to the back of the plant, then back through the warehouse to the office. He found Street and Bryant, but not Gibson. Odum saw Gibson's truck parked in front of the plant, but he did not look inside of it. Odum weighed an empty trailer at 6:56. (T 1090-92, 1100-01, 1115-17)

Kimberly Murphy, the dispatcher and bookkeeper, was driving to work on Ventura Avenue between 7:10 and 7:15 when she saw Gibson walking fast on a canal bank near a stop sign. He was not on company property. (T 1155, 1159-62) He was not near his white pickup. (T 1163-64) He was wearing a white T-shirt and work pants or blue jeans. She did not see any stains or blood. (T 1162, 1166-67)

Clifford Watts was standing on the scales at Clewiston Fertilizer talking to Al around 7:00 a.m. on September 30. (T 1171-72) Gibson walked up to them. He was sweating and had fresh

scratches on his face. The scratches were still bleeding. (T 1172-73) Watts asked if he had been fighting. Gibson said he fell out of his truck. (T 1174) Watts did not notice any blood stains on Gibson's clothes. (T 1175-76) Watts had seen Gibson walking on a street near the plant several times before. (T 1174-75)

Alfonso Bynes was with Watts when he saw Gibson walking on the street into the plant by a canal. (T 1177-83) Bynes thought it was between 6:00 and 6:30. (T 1182) Bynes noticed the scratches on Gibson's face when he walked by them. Bynes thought Gibson said he had gotten into a fight. (T 1179) Bynes had seen Gibson off of the plant's property during working hours before. Gibson had told him he was jogging. (T 1182) Gibson had also talked about a girl with a blue car who lived in a house across the canal from the place he parked his truck. (T 1182-83)

Bryant saw Gibson between 6:56 and 7:30. (T 1114-17) He was wearing a white T-shirt, work pants, and company issued rubber boots with square or diamond patterns on the soles. (T 1117-18) He had a scratch on his chin, a couple of scratches on his cheek, and a scratch under his eye. They looked fresh and had not been there at 4:00. (T 1118-19) Gibson said he scratched his face on the pliers he used to roll up his truck window. (T 1132) Gibson looked hot and sweaty. (T 1138) A couple of weeks before, Gibson left work for awhile, returned around 4:30 a.m., and said he had been jogging. (T 1122-23) The front of Luevano's house could be seen from the mixing area at the plant. It was about 150 yards away. (T 1113, 1124) Bryant had sometimes seen Luevano in front

of her house doing chores. Gibson and others had commented that she was attractive. (T 1124-26, 1133) Bryant did not see Gibson in front of Luevano's house on September 30. (T 1139)

Street saw Gibson around 7:30 next to the first aid cabinet at the back office. He had a bandage on his chin and another bandage in his hand. He was sweating and had a couple of small scratches on his face, a small scratch under his right eye, and a large scratch on his chin. He acted a little upset, like he felt bad. (T 1144-45) Street had not seen the scratches when they were working at 4:00. Gibson said he felt bad, had been sleeping in his truck, and fell and hit his face on the door. (T 1146) Once or twice before Street had seen Gibson returning to the plant and sweating. Gibson said he was jogging. (T 1147)

Odum saw Gibson near the office and the scales between 7:15 and 7:30. He had a bandage on his face and a bruise under his eye. He said he had been sleeping in his truck and hit his head on the door handle. (T 1093-94, 1101-02) Gibson complained about his stomach and went home for awhile. He clocked out at 7:28 and clocked back in at 8:40. (T 1094-95, 1102, 1120-21) When he returned, he asked Bryant if he had seen a Mexican running on Ventura, which is the street that goes behind Luevano's house and leads to the plant. (T 1123-24) Gibson said he saw a fellow with a stain on his shirt who appeared to be in a hurry. (T 1124) Murphy saw Gibson wearing a blue uniform shirt and pants after he returned from home. (T 1164, 1167-68)

Albert Young, a truck driver for Clewiston Fertilizer, saw Gibson between 10:00 and 11:00 a.m. on September 30. He saw fresh looking scratches on Gibson's face. (T 1186-89) Gibson said he had an argument with his wife. He also said he got the scratches from the door of his truck. (T 1189, 1191) A couple of months before, Young saw Gibson walk into the plant around 6:00 a.m. He said he had been walking for exercise. (T 1189-91)

Vernon Kirkland, another truck driver, saw Gibson between noon and 1:00 p.m. on September 30. He saw the scratches on Gibson's face. Gibson said he fell. (T 1193-97)

The next day, Bryant and Street saw police cars at Luevano's house and asked what happened. Gibson said he heard that a girl had been raped and shot or killed. (T 1126-27, 1148)

Odum, Bryant, Street, Murphy, and Kirkland testified that the Indian head charm and chain found in Luevano's bedroom looked like the ones Gibson usually wore. They had not seen him wearing them after September 30. (T 1095-97, 1127-30, 1147-48, 1164-65, 1168, 1197-99) After the investigators showed the charm and chain to Bryant, Gibson asked what they were doing, but Bryant did not tell him. (T 1128-29) Gibson later heard that they had the chain. He said it was not his, his chain was at home. (T 1129-30)

Randy Perryman worked at the Super Stop with Luevano. (T 1202, 1207-08) Around 5:30 a.m. on September 30, Gibson came into the store and purchased a bottle of Sprite. (T 1203-07) He was wearing blue jeans, a T-shirt, and tennis shoes. (T 1205, 1212) Lt. Cassels showed Perryman a display of six photographs. Perryman

identified a photo of Gibson. (T 1208-11, 1718-22, 1737-38) Perryman also told Cassels that Murrish stopped at the store around 6:30 that morning. (T 1738)

Roxanne Gibson married Brian on June 16, 1989. On September 30, 1991, they lived on Cypress Circle behind a trailer park in Clewiston. (T 1225-26) Roxanne worked at the Git N' Split store from noon to 6:00 p.m. (T 1226-27) Brian came home from work that morning for 30 to 45 minutes because his stomach was hurting. She was still in bed. He laid down on the bed with his clothes on. (T 1228-30) She noticed that he had a scratch on his chin. He said it happened when he was playing with their dog the night before. Later on he said that he scratched himself on the vice grips he used for a window crank in his truck. (T 1230-32, 1251-53)

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