# FILED

SID J. WHITE

# OCT 3 19941

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

BRIAN KEITH GIBSON,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

# BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

#### ROBERT Å. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. LANDRY Assistant Attorney General 2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Westwood Center Tampa, Florida 33607 (813) 873-4739

OF COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

Case No. 81,769

CLERK, SURREME COURT By \_\_\_\_\_\_ Chief Deputy Clerk

#

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

### ISSUE IV

**'**, .

۲,

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT VIOLATED APPELLANT'S RIGHT TO CONFRONT ADVERSE WITNESSES BY FORBIDDING CROSS-EXAMINATION OF HIS WIFE ABOUT A MATTER RELATING TO HER BIAS WHETHER SHE HEARD APPELLANT WAS HAVING AN AFFAIR WITH THE VICTIM.

Prior to trial the state filed a motion in limine to prohibit, without first proffering testimony, the defendant from referring to an "affair" between appellant and victim Lupita Luevano (R 47). The state argued that there was no evidence of any such affair other than what appellant may have told his father; the defense argued this motion was premature and the topic would be batter addressed at trial through proper objection (SR 13 - 15) The court granted the motion, ruling that it would allow the defense to establish they may have met but not use the word affair other than through Mr. Gibson (appellant's father) except through a proffer (SR 16 - 20).

At trial appellant sought to ask of Mrs. Gibson the singular question whether she had been told by others that her husband was having an affair with Miss Luevano (Tr 1261).<sup>4</sup> The defense contended that the purpose of asking the question was not to establish whether or not it was true but to establish the reasons or motive for bias or prejudice by the witness (Tr 1260) The state contended that the defense was asking it only for the effect of it, and there was no evidence to substantiate it.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> "The Court: Is that the only question?

Mr. Rinard: That's the only question, your Honor."

Whether defense counsel's motive was proper or improper, it is clear that the trial court's ruling not to allow that question cannot be other than harmless error, if error at all. <u>State v.</u> <u>DiGuilio</u>, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986); <u>D. Smith v. State</u>, <u>So.</u> 2d \_\_\_\_\_, 19 Fla. Law Weekly S 312 (Fla. 1994); <u>Allen v. State</u>, So. 2d \_\_\_\_, 19 Fla. Law Weekly S 139 (Fla. 1994).

In the instant case, the defense was able to cross-examine for bias by inquiring into her knowledge of the affair with Tracy and her own forming another relationship with another man yielding a recent child (Tr 1263).

Additionally, Roxanne Gibson did not provide any uniquely damaging testimony; every thing she provided of an incriminating nature was provided by multiple other witnesses. Coworkers described his going home the day of the murder and scratches on his face. His girlfriend testified that she provided the Indian head charm. Coworkers also identified his necklace and charm. Thus, any error in the failure to allow this single question was harmless.

Appellant was not deprived of the right to cross-examine a witness regarding bias or motive to testify; the trial court merely denied counsel's request to ask a single question. Her motive to testify was otherwise explored. See <u>Brookings v.</u> <u>State, 495</u> So. 2d 135, 140 (Fla. 1986); <u>Steinhorst v. State</u>, 412 So. 2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982) (any error in restricting defense in its attempt to show witness Capo's involvement or interest in the case was surely harmless as these matters were substantially put

- 38 -

before the jury through the direct and cross-examination of Capo as well as the testimony of other witnesses); <u>Marr v. State</u>, 494 So. 2d 1139, 1143 (Fla. 1986) (petitioner was afforded an adequate and fair opportunity to show the bias and motive of the victim and Young without delving into the sexual nature of their relationship).

Unlike the situation in <u>Davis</u> and contrary to appellant's argument Roxanne Gibson was not a crucial witness to the state. Several coworkers and appellant's girlfriend Tracy Grass all identified the neck chain and charm appellant wore.

Appellant's conversation with Roxanne including the comment "if they have my fingerprints wouldn't they come and get me" was apparently in response to something she had heard about the investigation and he immediately followed with a disclaimer that he had not been there (Tr 1235). The comment about moving to Mississippi earlier than January (Tr 1244) adds little since apparently made in the context of repeated visits from the police.<sup>5</sup> More damaging to Gibson were his inconsistent stories as to whether the scratches were caused by hitting his head while sleeping in the truck by a fight with his wife or by the dog (Tr 1093, 1189, 1231).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Moreover, had the witness chosen to falsely give incriminating statements at trial she could have claimed to see blood on appellant's clothing prior to washing (Tr 1256 -1257).

A defendant's right to cross-examine on the question of bias is not unlimited. <u>Mosley v. State</u>, 616 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993); <u>United States v. Leavitt</u>, 878 F.2d 1329 (11th Cir. 1989) (district court did not violate Sixth Amendment by placing limits on bounds of defendants' cross-examination of government in narcotics prosecution); <u>Livingston v. State</u>, 565 So. 2d 1288 (Fla. 1988) (trial court should have permitted cross-examination of witness arrested prior to trail as to his possible motive for testifying against defendant, but court's refusal to do so was harmless in light of overwhelming evidence of guilt of defendant).

Appellant's claim must be rejected.

### <u>ISSUE V</u>

WHETHER THE LOWER COURT VIOLATED APPELLANT'S RIGHT TO BE PRESENT AND TO ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL BY DENYING A DEFENSE REQUEST TO CONSULT WITH APPELLANT BEFORE EXERCISING PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES.

Appellant contends that he was denied the right to be present and to the assistance of counsel by denying defense counsel's request to consult with appellant before exercising peremptory challenges. The claim is both procedurally barred and meritless. Appellant refers to the record at R 488 - 489. The colloquy reveals:

> "The Court: Do you have any other questions? Are your prepared to proceed with jury selection?

> Mr. Rinard: Your Honor, if I may have -- if we make [sic] take an afternoon recess so I may have ten minutes or so to speak with Mr. Gibson to advise him of some things and see how he would like for me to proceed.

> The Court: Let's proceed with this round. Are there any additional challenges for cause?

Mr. Rinard: Yes, Your Honor.

(Tr 488 - 489)

Then both the state and defense proceeded to exercise challenges for cause (Tr 489 - 498). The defense then acknowledged that prospective jurors Jones through Price were "acceptable at this time" (Tr 498). Then the court took a fifteen minute recess (Tr 498). Appellant was present throughout the proceeding and no complaint was lodged either at that time or thereafter that Gibson was denied the opportunity to assist counsel in jury selection (Tr 498 - 1067). Thereafter, the defense sought to challenge jurors Spann, Chambers and Peterson for cause (Tr 774 - 777). The challenge to Chambers was granted. The defense peremptorily challenged Peterson, Spann, and Miller and accepted the eleven on the panel (Tr 774 - 780). The court granted a defense challenge for cause to jurors Capling (Tr 983) and Snider and Miller (Tr 984 - 985) and a defense peremptory challenge to Shipwash (Tr 985).

The defense peremptorily excused as an alternate juror Abelt (Tr 988). Since no complaint was uttered below regarding appellant being denied the opportunity to participate in jury selection, the claim has not been preserved for appellate review and is barred. <u>Steinhorst v. State</u>, 412 So. 2d 332 (Fla. 1982); <u>Occhicone v. State</u>, 570 So. 2d 902 (Fla. 1990). Since the record reflects that appellant was not denied any right and counsel was able to engage in jury selection exercises both peremptory and for cause challenges, the claim is meritless.<sup>6</sup>

- 42 -

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>o</sup> If appellant's complaint now is that he was not allowed to participate in the bench conference at Tr 480 - 488 he may not prevail for several reasons: no such request to participate was made there is no right of a defendant to participate in a bench conference, [<u>Garcia v. State</u>, 492 So. 2d 360 (Fla. 1986), <u>United States v. Provenzano</u>, 620 F.2d 985, 998 (3rd Cir. 1980)] and finally, the defense received everything requested (the prosecutor agreed with challenges for cause to jurors Murrah, Ellington, Watts, Gremli, Fairchild and Vary and the defense was permitted to individually voir dire Barrineau, Barber and Smith, none of whom ended up serving on the jury (Tr 2335 - 36).

#### ISSUE VI

۲.

WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED AT PENALTY PHASE BY ADMITTING PHOTOS OF THE PRIOR MURDER VICTIM.

"Those whose work products are murdered human beings should expect to be confronted by photographs of their accomplishments." <u>Henderson v. State</u>, 463 So. 2d 196, 200 (Fla. 1985).

The test of admissibility of photographic evidence is relevance. <u>State v. Wright</u>, 265 So. 2d 361 (Fla. 1972); <u>Engle v.</u> <u>State</u>, 438 So. 2d 803 (Fla. 1983); <u>Welty v. State</u>, 402 So. 2d 1159 (Fla. 1981); <u>Booker v. State</u>, 397 So. 2d 910 (Fla. 1981); <u>Straight v. State</u>, 397 So. 2d 903 (Fla. 1981); <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 359 So. 2d 1190 (Fla. 1978). See also <u>Wyatt v. State</u>, <u>So. 2d</u> \_\_\_\_\_, 19 Fla. Law Weekly S 351 (Fla. 1994) (trial court did not abuse discretion in admitting photographs of victims of prior violent crimes despite defense claim that the evidence was cumulative and prejudicial).

The introduction of photographic evidence is within the trial court's discretion which will not be disturbed on appeal unless there is a showing of clear abuse. <u>Duest v. State</u>, 462 So. 2d 446 (Fla. 1985); <u>Brown v. State</u>, 526 So. 2d 903 (Fla. 1988); <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 545 So. 2d 260 (Fla. 1989); <u>Tompkins v.</u> Dugger, 549 So. 2d 1370 (Fla. 1989).

This Court has routinely allowed the introduction into evidence of photographs used to identify the victim or used by the medical examiner to illustrate wounds. <u>Haliburton v. State</u>, 561 So. 2d 248 (Fla. 1990); <u>Randolph v. State</u>, 562 So. 2d 331 (Fla. 1990).

- 43 -

At penalty phase the defense objected to any testimony as to the nature and character of events that occurred in the 1982 law in support of homicide. The state cited case the admissibility.<sup>7</sup> Based on the case law cited, the defense objection was overruled (p. 19 - 22). When the defense complained about not being furnished discovery of the photos, the court held a hearing and determined there was no violation (p. The defense was permitted to review the photos (p. 25 - 32). 31). Exhibits 90 - 93 were admitted (pp. 33 - 35) and thereafter Dr. Schultz, who performed the autopsy on victim Lester Thompson testified regarding the injuries incurred, utilizing Exhibits 85 -88 (pp. 77 - 99).

Appellant acknowledges that this Honorable Court has ruled that evidence of the details of a prior conviction for felony involving violence is admissible to support aggravating factor F.S. 921.141(5)(b). <u>Waterhouse v. State</u>, 596 So. 2d 1008, 1016 (Fla. 1992); <u>Rhodes v. State</u>, 547 So. 2d 1201, 1204 (Fla. 1989); <u>Tompkins v. State</u>, 502 So. 2d 415, 419 (Fla. 1986). Such testimony "assists the jury in evaluating the character of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Waterhouse v. State, 596 So. 2d 1008 (Fla. 1992); <u>Rhodes v.</u> <u>State</u>, 547 So. 2d 1201 (Fla. 1989); <u>Buenoano v. State</u>, 527 So. 2d 194 (Fla 1988); <u>Stano v. State</u>, 473 So. 2d 1282 (Fla. 1985); <u>Tompkins v. State</u>, 502 So. 2d 415 (Fla 1986). Defense counsel did not offer any contrary authorities to the court. See <u>Lucas</u> <u>v. State</u>, 376 So. 2d 1149, 1152 (Fla. 1979) (This Court will not indulge in the presumption that the trial judge would have made an erroneous ruling had an objection been made and authorities cited contrary to his understanding of the law.)

defendant and the circumstances of the crime so that the jury can make an informed recommendation as to the appropriate sentence." <u>Waterhouse</u>, supra, at 1016, quoting from <u>Rhodes</u>, supra. And autopsy photos are admissible in penalty phase. <u>Randolph v.</u> State, 562 So. 2d 331 (Fla. 1990).

Appellant cites <u>Duncan v. State</u>, 619 So. 2d 279 (Fla. 1993), wherein the court found harmless error in the trial court's admission of a gruesome photo depicting the victim in a prior crime. <u>Duncan</u>, appellee submits, conflicts with <u>Waterhouse</u>, <u>Rhodes</u>, and <u>Tompkins</u> and is an aberration. Moreover, the reasoning is suspect. The Court opines that:

> "The photograph did not directly relate to the murder of Deborah Bauer but rather depicted the extensive injuries suffered by the victim of a totally unrelated crime."

> > (619 So. 2d at 282).

Obviously the photo would not relate to the murder victim who was a subject of the trial if the photo was introduced to show prior conviction of a violent felony. To the extent that the Court was articulating that the photo was gruesome and cumulative to the other evidence presented, appellee cannot quarrel since the opinion furnishes no picture. In the instant case, appellee submits that the photos are not gruesome, that the evidence was relevant to demonstrate appellant's extraordinary violent character and repeated attempts to attack his victims' heads when the opportunity is available and furnishes valuable information to the jury "in evaluating the character of the

- 45 -

defendant."<sup>8</sup> See also <u>Wyatt v. State</u>, <u>So. 2d</u>, 19 Fla. Law Weekly S 351, 352 (Fla. 1994).

The state's use of evidence pertaining to the details of the homicide of Lester Thompson of course primarily serves the purpose of proving and explaining a prior felony conviction involving force and violence. F.S. 921.141(5)(b). But such evidence also has relevancy in another regard. That appellant killed Thompson and stole his pickup truck after using a machete or cane knife located in the victim's residence and offered an elaborate story of seeing two men who may have been involved in the Thompson murder and having explained to a corrections officer that he was defending himself against sexual advances (p. 42 -48) and similarly burglarizes the Luevano residence to kill its occupant with a barbell-weapon already on the premises and also provide a story to investigating officers that a Mexican was near the scene and falsely explaining to his father that he was having an affair with the victim when she pulled a gun on him during an argument tend to establish a pattern of highly premeditated conduct and rebuts proffered mental health defense experts whom the defense relied on to show an impairment.

No abuse of discretion has been established.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The evidence is also relevant to establish the CCP aggravator in that Gibson had established a protocol of entering victims' homes to destroy their faces and heads with multiple blows.

## ISSUE VII

٦,

# WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT VIOLATED APPELLANT'S RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS OF LAW BY ADMITTING ALLEGEDLY IRRELEVANT VICTIM IMPACT EVIDENCE.

Appellee would respectfully submit that to the extent Gibson is now contending that there has been some kind of constitutional error in the trial court's admitting victim impact testimony from Lupita Luevano's relatives, the claim has not been preserved for appellate review. The only objection urged below was not of a constitutional nature but that such testimony was not admissible under the statute:

> "MR. RINARD: Your Honor, I'm going to object to the introduction of any testimony through this witness as it relates to the victim impact. I believe that's improper testimony to be presented to the jury in the penalty phase.

> Section 921.141 of the Florida Statutes sets out the procedures to be followed in the penalty phase. The Section says in the proceeding evidence may be presented as to any manner the Court deems relevant to the nature of the crime, and the character of the defendant, and shall include matters relating to any aggravating or mitigating circumstances enumerated in Subsections (5) and (6).

> The Court's aware that Subsection (5) sets out the specific aggravating circumstances that a jury can consider in the penalty phase. Victim impact or the family's impact of the victim is not one of the aggravating factors that can be considered by this jury in making its recommendation.

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